POLICY PAPER

A Human Rights-based Approach to Climate and Disaster Risk Financing

Laura Schäfer, Vera Künzel, Pia Jorks





Brief Summary

Climate and disaster risk financing (CDRF) measures and activities that governments or other actors carry out can affect the enjoyment of human rights. The Paris Agreement therefore recognises that, "Parties should, when taking action to address climate change, respect, promote and consider their respective obligations on human rights (...)" (Paris Agreement 2015). This paper presents a human rights-based approach to CDRF (HRBA-CDRF). In accordance with the approach, CDRF instruments and activities should be developed, implemented, and evaluated so as to protect and promote enjoyment of human rights to prevent harm to communities and ecosystems, as well as for promoting sustainable development in the context of climate risk management.

The HRBA-CDRF contains four guardrails and five principles, along with comprehensive guidelines including 'necessary measures' for implementing each principle. All actors involved in developing, implementing, and evaluating CDRF instruments and activities should apply the HRBA-CDRF, with the ultimate objectives of promoting and protecting human rights, preventing harm to communities and ecosystems, and promoting sustainable development.

Imprint

Authors:

Laura Schäfer, Vera Künzel, Pia Jorks

Layout:

Janina Longwitz, Jolke Mertesacker

Christoph Bals, Rixa Schwarz, Roxana Baldrich, Nina Eschke (DIM)

Publisher:

Germanwatch e.V.

Office Bonn:Office Berlin:Kaiserstr. 201Stresemannstr. 72D-53113 BonnD-10963 Berlin

Phone +49 (0)228 / 60 492-0, Fax -19 Phone +49 (0)30 / 28 88 356-0, Fax -1

Internet: www.germanwatch.org E-mail: info@germanwatch.org

September/2020

Purchase order number: 20-2-06e

This publication can be downloaded at: www.germanwatch.org/en/19280



Supported by Engagement Global with Funding from Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development. Germanwatch is responsible for the content of this publication.

Contents

1	Introduction4	
2	Climate Change, Climate and Disaster Risk Management, and Human Rights 5	
2.1	The Need for a Human Rights-based Approach for Climate and Disaster Risk Financing Instruments and Activities6	
2.2	Legal Basis9	
2.3	Human Rights Entitlements and Obligations in the Context of Climate Change: Right Holder and Duty Bearers	
3	A Human Rights-based Approach to Climate and Disaster Risk Financing 12	
4	Principles	
4.1	Non-Discrimination and Equality17	
4.2	Participation and Empowerment	
4.3	Transparency	
4.4	Accountability	
4.5	Do No Harm22	
5	Operationalisation of the HRBA's Principles and Application Guidelines 24	
6	The Way Forward	
7	Bibliography	

1 Introduction

Climate change impacts have already profoundly affected enjoyment of human rights for people throughout the world, and these impacts are rapidly increasing. They include the growing frequency and severity of cyclones, storms, and heatwaves, as well as slower onset hazards such as sea-level rise. Climate change impacts mostly affect individuals and groups who are already disadvantaged, marginalised, excluded, and vulnerable. United Nations agencies and national governments have long explicitly acknowledged these facts. Measures by governments or other actors to respond to climate change can also have impacts on or neglect urgent needs related to the enjoyment of human rights. This concerns both measures to mitigate greenhouse gas emissions and measures to adapt to and manage climate change impacts. The Paris Agreement in its Preamble thus recognises that "(...) Parties should, when taking action to address climate change, respect, promote and consider their respective obligations on Human Rights (...)" (Paris Agreement 2015).

An increasing number of climate and disaster risk financing (CDRF) instruments and activities have been implemented in developing countries, aiming to protect the poorest and often most vulnerable people. These measures, if well-developed and implemented, can improve resilience, empower right holders, and even provide incentives for risk reduction and prevention activities. Conversely, poorly designed and implemented CDRF can intensify pre-existing inequalities, and create new dependencies or new forms of discrimination, leaving behind the population's already marginalised and most vulnerable parts. To ensure that indeed the poorest and most vulnerable benefit from CDRF schemes and that human rights violations through CDRF are prevented or minimised, the call has been made to follow a human rights-based approach (HRBA) (e.g. Schäfer et al. 2016). International initiatives such as the InsuResilience Global Partnership for Climate and Disaster Risk Finance and Insurance (IGP) highlight that their pro-poor principles "align with, and promote a human rights-based approach to climate and disaster risk finance" (InsuResilience 2019). Still, the details on definition, design, and application of an HRBA-CDRF remain vague. This paper endeavours to answer the following question: How can all relevant phases (development, implementation, and evaluation) of CDRF instruments and activities be aligned with and monitored based on human rights standards and principles? Thus, the paper further develops and expands on the 2018 Germanwatch Human Rights-based Approach to Climate Risk Insurance (Hutfils 2018).

The paper starts with a brief analysis of the interlinkages of climate change, climate risk management, and human rights (Chapter 2). After establishing the need for a HRBA-CDRF (2.1), building on the legal basis (2.2) and a brief explanation to human rights entitlements, and obligations (2.3) it then presents an HRBA-CDRF (Chapter 3), which seeks CDRF instruments and activities to be developed, implemented, and evaluated so as to protect and promote the enjoyment of human rights. Next, it introduces the HRBA-CDRF principles to be applied to CDRF instruments and activities (Chapter 4). Necessary measures for each principle as well as guidelines for their application are subsequently described with regard to the approach's applicability (Chapter 5).

2 Climate Change, Climate and Disaster Risk Management, and Human Rights

Climate change impacts are negatively affecting the realisation and enjoyment of a variety of human rights and they will increasingly do so in the future. United Nations agencies and national governments (e.g. OHCHR 2009a, OHCHR 2009b, OHCHR 2011a, UNFCCC 2011, OHCHR 2013, OHCHR 2016, Paris Agreement 2015) have long explicitly acknowledged this. The extent and nature of these harms are quickly developing and will vary from region to region and from community to community. It is, however, already evident that anthropogenic climate risks are likely to affect the rights to life, adequate food and water, health, and self-determination, among others (Johl & Lador 2012). Anthropogenic climate change impacts on human rights can be divided into two categories. The first is direct impacts on human rights, which can result from extreme weather events or slowly evolving events with direct implications on people's human rights; such as the loss of homes and means of subsistence (e.g. right to adequate housing and to self-determination) due to a cyclone or other storm, and the loss of access to drinking and/or irrigation water due to sea-level rise (e.g. rights to adequate food and to safe drinking water, right to return). The second is **indirect impacts on** human rights, which can occur when people, because of climate-induced migration or displacement, lack access to livelihoods, education, and other key elements, or live in conflict in the areas to which they migrated (e.g. right to social security, right to adequate standard of living, right to education).

The effects of climate change on human rights mostly affect those who already find themselves in vulnerable situations due to factors including geography, poverty, gender, age, indigenous or minority status, and disability (OHCHR 2011a). Therefore, the biggest impacts are expected in the least-developed countries, where people are most vulnerable, have the least capacity to adapt, and have least contributed to the causes of climate change (UN DESA 2017). The prevention of human rights-related harms is therefore also especially important for fulfilling the national development agendas and sustainable development goals (SDGs).

Next to the direct and indirect human rights impacts of climate change itself, it has also been recognised that measures to respond to climate change by governments or other actors can impact the enjoyment of human rights (e.g. OHCHR 2016; UNEP 2015). This concerns measures to mitigate greenhouse gas emissions, as well as measures to adapt to and manage the climate change impacts. Both can interfere with human rights, particularly with those of the most vulnerable. While, for instance, a large-scale renewable energy project may bring forced evictions, climate risk management measures might benefit one group to the detriment of another. Such might be the case for coastal fortifications that protect one community while exposing another to greater risk of erosion and/or flooding. This might also be the case for a climate risk insurance product only affordable for communities' wealthier members, thereby, for instance, damaging informal risk-sharing networks that also provide protection for the most vulnerable in times of disaster. From a human rights perspective, potentially affected communities must be able to participate in the planning process and a human rights-based risk assessment must inform the discussion.

Key agreements and UN agencies have acknowledged and highlighted that climate actions must be developed and implemented to avoid threatening or violating human rights (e.g. OHCHR 2016). The Special Rapporteur on human rights and the environment finds in his latest report, that "first, climate change and its impacts threaten a broad range of human rights, and second, as a result, States and

private actors have extensive human rights obligations and responsibilities" (OHCHR 2019b). Pursuant to the preamble of the Paris Agreement, "Parties should, when taking action to address climate change, respect, promote and consider their respective obligations on Human Rights, the right to health, the rights of indigenous peoples, local communities, migrants, children, persons with disabilities and people in vulnerable situations and the right to development, as well as gender equality, empowerment of women and intergenerational equity" (Paris Agreement 2015). Moreover, the guidelines for implementation 1 of the Paris Agreement contain references to human rights principles and standards that states can use to enforce such standards in climate protection measures (Eschke 2019). All acts to combat climate change therefore underlie an obligation, hence duty, to respect and promote human rights. Especially relevant in this context is that human rights law not only recognises substantive rights such as the rights to life, food, development, and of indigenous people, but also procedural rights such as the rights to information, education, and to participate in government decision-making processes (see also Chapter 2.2). Such procedural entitlements and resulting duties have implications for the processes by which governments make decisions about their climate change response strategies, both nationally and internationally, and how they carry out and review such measures.

2.1 The Need for a Human Rights-based Approach for Climate and Disaster Risk Financing Instruments and Activities

People worldwide are facing the realities of climate change. This is often manifesting at an increased frequency and in the form of severe extreme weather events. Between 1999 and 2018, about 495 000 people died worldwide and losses of US\$3.54 trillion (in Purchasing Power Parities) were incurred as a direct result of such events (Eckstein et al. 2019). Slow-onset processes (such as sea-level rise and desertification) will add an additional burden in the future.²

Destruction due to natural disasters (including climate change-fuelled events) means poor people in poor countries that are especially vulnerable to climate impacts face obstructions in their development. In particular, the Least Developed Countries and Small Islands Developing States face a growing risk of declining investments, stranded infrastructure investments, worsening credit ratings, higher debt, and ultimately, lowered adaptive capacity (Bread for the World 2019). Climate risk management is imperative for these countries in order to identify, reduce, and transfer risks, and to respond to events and disasters (IPCC 2012). CDRF, which helps governments or other actors address residual risks—which are impossible or not cost-effective to mitigate or reduce—is one step in this process (World Bank & GFDRR 2012).

¹ Human rights are not explicitly enshrined in the implementation guidelines, as Norway, Canada, and the European Union demanded.

² With increasing reliability, attribution science can show that climate change is a driver for the observed frequency, intensity, and duration of some extreme weather events and slow-onset hazards (Committee on Extreme Weather Events and Climate Change Attribution et al. 2016).

Financial risk management instruments and human rights

Financial risk management instruments aim to build resilience by increasing governments' financial response capacity to be able to meet post-disaster funding needs for response (relief), recovery, and reconstruction without compromising development objectives, fiscal stability, and wellbeing. CDRF instruments and activities can be distinguished at the time of their planning and use (Ghesquiere & Mahul 2010).

- 1. **Ex-ante instruments and activities**, which require proactive planning and allow for quick disbursement after a disaster. These include:
 - reserves or calamity funds
 - budget contingencies
 - contingent credit
 - risk transfer (insurance and catastrophe [CAT] bonds/risk-linked securities)
- 2. **Ex-post disaster instruments and activities**, which are not prepared before a disaster, can take some time to mobilise and are therefore more uncertain. These include:
 - donor assistance (relief)
 - budget reallocation
 - domestic credit
 - external credit
 - donor assistance (reconstruction)
 - tax increases

Based on states' obligations to respect, protect, and fulfil the human rights of their citizens and of any other people in their territory or under their jurisdiction, they have a responsibility to protect their population in the case of disasters or humanitarian crisis. Ensuring the enjoyment of human rights throughout a disaster situation, however, requires finance. Currently, this often represents implicit contingent liabilities for governments, leaving the open question of 'Who has to pay?' (Hallgatte et al. 2017: 13). Setting up CDRF instruments can help cover these liabilities created by natural hazards or other environmental risks to clarify these responsibilities, as well as the question of 'Who is the rights holder?' (e.g. vulnerable people towards their government) to receive support in the form of financial protection (Hallgatte et al. 2017: 160). CDRF instruments can also provide incentives for risk reduction (Hutfils 2018: 3)) by making the costs of liabilities more visible and reducing political economical obstacles for investments (Hallgatte et al. 2017: 61). Introduction and utilisation of CDRF instruments can thereby help to protect and fulfil human rights, particularly for the most vulnerable. At the same time, CDRF instruments and activities should respect and promote human rights principles in their development, implementation, and evaluation as a preventative measure to avoid or minimise ex-post human rights violations that may arise from climate risk financing actions.

With the objective of building resilience by increasing developing countries' financial response capacities, an increasing number of CDRF instruments and activities have been implemented and supported in recent years. The population's most vulnerable³ parts are often the activities' key target groups. Large international initiatives, such as the IGP, aim to enable more timely and reliable disaster response using climate and disaster risk finance and insurance solutions to help poor and vulnerable people recover more quickly, and to strengthen local resilience over time (InsuResilience 2018). To make sure that the marginalised and most vulnerable (e.g. the poorest members of communities) do indeed benefit from these schemes, there has been a call to follow an HRBA (e.g. Schäfer et al. 2016). The IGP, for example, has set up Pro-Poor Principles and underscores that these "align with, and promote a human-rights based approach to climate and disaster risk finance (both in terms of their attainment as well as the process requirements indicated by such an approach)" (InsuResilience 2019). Realize Human Rights is also one of the Pro-Poor Sub-Principles, with the objective that: "Climate and disaster risk finance and insurance solutions will contribute to ensuring poor and vulnerable people attain and maintain their Human Rights in the aftermath of disasters, or consequent to slow onset events caused by climate change" (ibid.).

Still, details on definition, design, and application of an HRBA-CDRF remain vague. In 2018, Germanwatch outlined the Human Rights-based Approach to Climate Risk Insurance, and thereby developed a framework for setting up climate risk insurance schemes that protect and promote human rights and recognise people as individual holders of human rights, and states and businesses as bearers of duties (Hutfils 2018). It places the principles of common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capacities, do no harm, polluter pays, and international human rights law at its core (ibid.). The approach proposes four basic principles to align the design process of climate risk insurance and related instruments and activities for achieving favourable human rights outcomes: (1) Non-discrimination and active inclusion of marginalised groups; (2) Participation and empowerment of those affected; (3) Transparency, accountability, and mechanisms for complaint; and (4) Respect towards and building on existing structures in the country/region (Hutfils 2018).

We decided to revise and extend the HRBA in order to advance the scope of an HRBA-CDRF to also include other CDRF instruments apart from insurance, and include all relevant related phases (development, implementation, and evaluation) of the respective instruments and activities. The revised HRBA approach, building on and adding to the formerly proposed framework, mainly strives to answer the following question: How must all relevant phases (development, implementation, and evaluation) of CDRF (including insurance instruments) and other financial instruments and activities be aligned, defined, and monitored based on human rights standards and principles? Accordingly, the revised HRBA-CDRF complements, specifies, and defines the principles in the respective phases. It also includes 'necessary measures' for all principles along with the process of implementing an HRBA.

_

³ The people and groups most vulnerable to climate change impacts have greater exposure to extreme weather events and slow-onset hazards, and are least able to prevent, adapt to and cope with these risks. They lose comparatively more in rapid onset events and have a higher risk of receding into poverty. Many factors can lead to vulnerability. These include economics, education, health and nutrition, housing and environment, social capital, and social inclusion. The climate crisis consequently impacts these people and groups existentially and their human rights are at high risk.

CDRF instruments and activities can, if well-developed and implemented, improve resilience, help in establishing planning security for people, empower right holders, and even provide incentives for risk reduction and prevention activities. However, if poorly designed and implemented, they can increase pre-existing inequalities, and create new dependencies or new forms of discrimination that may leave behind the poorest and most vulnerable people. In this light, all CDRF activities must be carried out in conformance with human rights.

2.2 Legal Basis

The HRBA-CDRF is anchored in a system of rights and corresponding obligations established by international law. Most central are the contents of international human rights law, Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR), International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR) and International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR), which together comprise the so-called Bill of Human Rights⁴. Together with the legal grounds of international climate, environmental, and sustainability law, they form the HRBA-CDRF's legal basis. In international climate law, the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC)⁵ and the Paris Agreement set out the legal framework. The Paris Agreement was the first climate agreement, and one of the first environmental agreements of any kind, to explicitly recognise the relevance of human rights. Additionally, the UNESCO Declaration of Ethical Principles in relation to Climate Change (2017) sets out a comprehensive set of ethical principles of decision-making, policy formulation, and other actions related to climate change, which should be taken into account internationally, regionally, nationally, sub-nationally, and locally as appropriate.

The Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction (2015) is central for the context of risk reduction. It acknowledges that "managing the risk of disasters is aimed at protecting persons and their property, health, livelihood and productive assets, while promoting and protecting all Human Rights, including the right to development" (Sendai Framework 2015). In the broader context of environmental protection and sustainable development, a wide-ranging set of legal grounds sets the scene for the HRBA-CDRF, especially under the premises of the rights to development in an environmental context. This includes the Stockholm Declaration (1972), Rio Declaration on Environment and Development (1992), Convention on Access to Information, Public Participation in Decision-Making and Access to Justice in Environmental Matters (Aarhus Convention 1998), and the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development (2015). However, in this context, it is important to consider that development cannot compromise other human rights and fundamental freedoms; as Sen states: "The basic idea that the expansion of human freedom is both the principal end and the main means of development" (Sen 1999: 9). This overview of legal grounds does not claim to be exhaustive⁶; however, it displays the broad legitimisation of applying an HRBA-CDRF with the aim of protecting and promoting the enjoyment of human rights for preventing harm to communities and ecosystems, as well as promoting sustainable development in the context of managing climate and disaster risks.

⁴ Bill of Human Rights: https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/Compilation1.1en.pdf.

⁵ In 2010, in Cancún, Mexico, the Conference of the Parties to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change adopted Decision 1/CP.16, which noted that climate change's adverse effects have implications for the effective enjoyment of human rights, that population segments already vulnerable will most acutely feel such effects, and that party States should, in all climate change-related actions, fully respect human rights.

⁶ The Annex gives a more comprehensive overview of conventions, agreements, and treaties from the fields of human rights, climate change, environment, sustainable development, and disaster risk management relevant to the HRBA-CDRF.

2.3 Human Rights Entitlements and Obligations in the Context of Climate Change: Right Holders and Duty Bearers

A key feature of human rights is the recognition of individual people as **rights holders**, who, by virtue of being human, have a claim to certain entitlements, and states as primary **duty bearers**, who are legally bound to respect, protect, promote, and fulfil the entitlements associated with those claims. Therefore, a focus on rights and obligations helps to identify who is entitled to make claims and who has a duty to take action, empowering those who have legitimate claims to rights.

Human rights entitlements of rights holders

Rights holders possess entitlements outlined in international human rights law, which provides a foundation for the most vulnerable to claim support. The right to life, for instance, entitles every person to the safety of their own life, free from discrimination. Rights holders can also be seen as beneficiaries of obligations and duties, which in this case would be the protection of right holders' lives by any necessary means. In the context of climate change impacts, rights holders are those affected by the impacts of extreme weather events and slow-onset hazards, which are increasingly frequent and severe. They are also entitled to protection from harm by duty bearers through means such as provision of financial resources.

Rights holders are individuals who can make legitimate claims (UNIRSDSP 2020). In contrast with international environmental law, with its few dispute resolution mechanisms, human rights law has abundant central monitoring mechanisms that verify compliance with numerous human rights conventions and the obligation of states to apply treaties' provisions at the national level; such as treaty body committees and rapporteurs. Such procedures can also give a voice to victims of climate change harm when an HRBA is applied to climate change mitigation or risk management measures. In the context of CDRF, the target group's civil and political rights, their economic, social, and cultural rights, and their collective human rights must be considered in each phase. Adequate accountability mechanisms are imperative for right holders to claim their entitlements or file complaints if harm occurs and rights are violated.

States' and businesses' human rights obligations

Duty bearers are primarily states[®] that are required to protect everyone within their jurisdiction, and public actors acting on behalf of their governments. Businesses are also duty bearers and must respect human rights and act accordingly.

By becoming parties to international human rights treaties, states assume obligations and duties under international law (human rights conventions and agreements, environmental and disaster risk reduction law, and related normative frameworks) to respect, protect, and fulfil human rights. The obligation to respect means states must refrain from interfering with or curtailing the enjoyment of human rights. The **obligation to protect** requires them to protect individuals and groups against human rights abuses (e.g. by private actors). The **obligation to fulfil** means states must proactively facilitate the enjoyment of basic human rights (OHCHR 2020a).

⁷ In the human rights literature, these are referred to in the Maastricht Guidelines, which define the scope of State obligations in relation to economic, social, and cultural rights, but are equally relevant to civil and political rights. See Maastricht Guidelines on Violations of Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (Maastricht, Netherlands, 22–26 January 1997).

⁸ It is important to note that human rights obligations do not depend on reciprocity. One state's respect for human rights does not depend on, and may not be conditioned on, compliance by other states.

The framework principles on human rights and the environment differentiate between three categories of state obligations: procedural, substantive, and special obligations towards those in vulnerable situations (OHCHR 2018a). The principles can be operationalised in the context of climate change impacts to satisfy the duties to respect, protect, and fulfil human rights. These principles should guide all climate actions related to mitigation, adaptation, climate risk management, and climate finance (OHCHR 2019a). Table 1 provides details on respective state obligations as proposed by the Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR 2013).

Table 1: Human rights obligations of states; Source: Author's own

Category	State obligation
Procedural	States must provide accessible information (e.g. UDHR 1948; ICESCR 1966); Ensure participation (UDHR 1948; ICCPR 1966); assess human rights impacts of plans and policies (cf. OHCHR 2018b); and respect the rights of indigenous peoples in all climate actions (including CDRF activities), particularly their rights to free, prior, and informed consent (United Nations 2007).
Substantive	States committed themselves to a safe climate, referring to a broad range of human rights (OHCHR 2019b); they must protect against third parties, including businesses, violating those rights; and they must establish, implement, and enforce laws, policies, and programmes to fulfil those rights (OHCHR 2011b). States also must avoid discrimination and retrogressive measures (ICESCR 1966).
	States must take adequate measures to protect all people from human rights-related harms caused by non-state-actors, including businesses (OHCHR 2011b; OHCHR 2011c); must ensure that their own activities—including activities conducted in partnership with the private sector, such as public–private CDRF, market-based approaches, or purely private CDRF—protect and promote human rights; and where such harms do occur, must enable affordable and timely access to justice and effective remedies.
Special	The do no harm rule ensures that polluting activities within a state's jurisdiction or control do not cause serious harm to the environment or people of other states, or to areas beyond the limits of national jurisdiction (CBD 1992; Rio Declaration 1992; UNFCCC 1992).
	In accordance with the principle of common but differentiated responsibilities, wealthy states must contribute their fair share towards the costs of mitigation, adaptation, and climate risk management in low-income countries (UNFCCC 1992).

11

⁹ Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, General Comment No. 3 on the nature of States parties' obligations (E/1991/23).

While duty bearers are primarily states, the fulfilment of human rights also depends on other entities and actors (German Institute for Human Rights 2014: 13). Private entities often are implementers and service providers to the population, with legal duties under national law and legal responsibilities towards their contractual partners, which often are states. States therefore must regulate and monitor private service providers to enforce conformity with human rights (German Institute for Human Rights 2014: 13). Additionally, private stakeholders—such as private enterprises, armed groups, community leaders, and civil society organisations—must be included in a broad dialogue on the concept of rights and responsibilities (ibid.).

Furthermore, there are accepted standards and principles for non-state actors, enshrined in international law and that are increasingly being incorporated into domestic law (UNEP 2015). Corporations should comply with the United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and human rights as they pertain to human rights and climate change (OHCHR 2011a, OHCHR 2011b). Accordingly, businesses must respect human rights, adopt human rights policies, and conduct human rights due diligence. They must be accountable for their climate impacts, participate responsibly in climate change mitigation and adaptation efforts with full respect for human rights (OHCHR 2015), and remedy human rights violations for which they are directly responsible (Expert Group on Climate Obligations of Enterprises 2018). The Oslo Principles on Global Obligations to Reduce Climate Change (2015) further specify non-state obligations with respect to human rights that explicitly deal with climate change. ^{10, 11}

In the context of CDRF instruments and activities, this is especially important because activities often are initiated and carried out by public–private or multi-actor constellations. In the case of the IGP, for example, stakeholders from a wide range of sectors—public and private sector representatives, multilateral development banks, civil society, and academia—are involved. In such a context, states have the duty to demonstrate that all their available resources, including through requests for international assistance, are put towards the protection of human rights (ICESCR 1966), while private sector actors must respect human rights, adopt human rights policies, and conduct human rights due diligence.

3 A Human Rights-based Approach to Climate and Disaster Risk Financing

As detailed in Chapter 2, instruments and activities that help countries manage climate change-related risks can also interfere with the enjoyment of human rights. This is based on the observation that not only climate impacts and risks themselves are quickly increasingly, causing unacceptable harm, but also that efforts to address them can cause harm. When poorly designed, implemented or evaluated (e.g. not participative for marginalised groups), these measures could even worsen

¹⁰ Luciano Lliuya v. RWE AG is the first climate lawsuit in which a court found that a private company could potentially be held liable for supporting people in (poorer) countries affected by climate damage from its emissions. If corporations do not comply with the above-mentioned international standards and agreements, climate litigation might become a means of enforcing their participation in adaptation or remedial efforts – with important implications for upholding human rights in the context of the climate crisis.

¹¹ Supply chain laws are currently being prepared in Germany and elsewhere in the European Union that are intended to provide for human rights and environment-related reporting obligations, duties of care, and liability. These legal obligations could be implemented by mid-2021 and would be of utmost importance for enhancing the legal basis for businesses as duty bearers. Germanwatch is part of the Supply Chain Law initiative and demands that the German government pass a law on human rights due diligence of companies. See: https://germanwatch.org/de/lieferkettengesetz.

adverse pre-existing conditions (such as marginalisation) or create new violations of human rights. It is therefore essential to consider the human rights impacts of climate risk management instruments and activities to ensure that key actors respect and promote existing human rights obligations and principles, thus promoting full enjoyment of human rights. Applying an HRBA can ensure this.

Objective

The OHCHR defines an HRBA as a "conceptual framework for the process of human development that is normatively based on international human rights standards and operationally directed to promoting and protecting human rights" (OHCHR 2006). In the context of CDRF, an applied HRBA can be understood as an approach for analysing obligations and inequalities related to the development and implementation of CDRF instruments and activities so that any practices or power relations that impede progress towards sustainable development are redressed (see OHCHR 2006). The HRBA-CDRF aims at guiding CDRF by human rights principles anchored in and established by international law and corresponding obligations (OHCHR 2006). According to an HRBA, CDRF instruments and activities should be developed, implemented, and evaluated in a way that protects and promotes (OHCRH 2020) the enjoyment of human rights to prevent harm to communities and ecosystems, and promotes sustainable development in the context of climate risk management (Johl & Lador 2012).

The objective is not to address ex-post human rights violations that may arise from CDRF actions. An HRBA-CDRF aims to function as a preventive measure in aligning the development, but also the implementation and evaluation phases, of CDRF instruments and activities with standards and principles of international law (Toussaint & Blanco 2019). As highlighted in the literature, an HRBA has the potential to "strengthen the effectiveness, long-term success, and sustainability of climate finance policies and measures at both the national and international levels" (Johl & Lador 2012) and "provides new avenues for providing help to vulnerable groups" (Broberg & Sano 2018).

Guardrails

Based on the above-listed set of conventions, agreements, and treaties, and corresponding obligations established by international law (Chapter 2), the HRBA recognises people as individual holders of human rights, and states and businesses as bearers of duties. On the same basis, four elements form the HRBA-CDRF's guardrails: (1) the prevention of social or environmental harm, (2) the precautionary approach, (3) the promotion of sustainable development, and (4) the principles of common but differentiated responsibilities. These span a frame in which the HRBA principles for CDRF are operating.

Do no harm approach: The principle of do no harm emphasises that states are duty-bound to prevent, reduce, and control the risk to communities and ecosystems of other states, as well as of areas beyond national jurisdiction (Brownlie 2008; Legal Response Initiative 2012; Rio Declaration 1992). This principle represents the general objective that efforts to address one problem (such as climate risk) should not lead to new problems and harms. Following international law principles as proposed by an HRBA is one, but not the only, means of striving to prevent harm. At the same time, every HRBA-CDRF must acknowledge, at every step of its process, that an HRBA and CDRF, both independently and jointly, if not adequately applied, can in fact be sources of conflict and harm. The HRBA-CDRF for this reason views the do no harm approach as both a guardrail and a principle to be applied to CDRF instruments and activities, and should also guide application of an HRBA towards the context of CDRF.

The HRBA-CDRF promotes a **precautionary approach** to avoid or minimise environmental and societal impacts that interfere with full enjoyment of human rights, even in situations of scientific uncertainty (UNFCCC 1992). A huge gap presently exists here. The suggested instruments and financing to address climate change-related risks are not even at the scale of the needs to address the likely, and even the less possible, risks. Now is the time to take measures such as preparing the necessary instruments, organising participation of people at risk, and organising the necessary financial sources. At the same time, the approach sets out a guideline for duty bearers to use adequate available resources to minimise uncertainty to the extent possible in regard to negative effects before implementing CDRF instruments and activities themselves, and to take respective precautionary measures. Therefore, the HRBA-CDRF aims to ensure that addressing the problem of climate risk through financing tools, by trying to anticipate, avoid, or minimise harm, does not result in new or worse problems and harms for people or the environment (UNESCO 2017).

Promote sustainable development: Development, implementation, and evaluation of CDRF instruments and activities need to aim at ensuring that all human beings are able to fulfil their potential with dignity and equality, and in a healthy environment. They also should aim at ensuring that all human beings can enjoy prosperous and fulfilling lives and that economic, social, and technological progress occurs in harmony with nature, as well as protecting and promoting human rights (United Nations 2015).

Common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capabilities (CBDRRC): While all duty bearers have a common responsibility in endeavouring to protect and promote human rights, prevent harm, and promote sustainable development, two aspects differ in this regard. First, duty bearers' degree of responsibility in the context of CDRF depends on their different contributions to the risks posed or the harm CDRF aims to prevent or minimise, as well as on their different abilities to reduce those risks. Richer and highly polluting countries should therefore take the lead in assisting and supporting countries highly affected by climate risks in the conduct of CDRF activities. Before the adoption of the Paris Agreement, the main focus here was on developed countries. The Paris Agreement has inherently taken a dynamic interpretation of CBDRRC, owing to the shift of emissions and of capabilities to emerging countries.

The notion of responsibility (UNFCCC) in international environmental law is also often mirrored in the **Polluters Pay Principle**, anchored in the Rio Declaration (UNCED 1992). Accordingly, in cases in which attribution to human-made climate change can be shown, responsibility should increasingly shift to those who have contributed to the anthropogenic climate change. Large-scale emitters such as companies and states should bear, at the least, substantial parts of the costs of managing the related risks. In the case of, for instance, insurance-related instruments, this could mean measures such as providing premium support, as well as financial and technical support for setting up schemes.

The CBDRRC's second pillar refers to the differing capabilities, and national and regional priorities, objectives, and circumstances (UNFCCC 1992), among any kind of duty bearers to contribute to fulfilment of the outlined responsibilities. For example, ex-ante CDRF requires proactive advance planning and upfront investments. Some duty bearers are more capable than others in these areas. Thus far and in most cases, high responsibility and high capabilities go hand in hand, but this would shift in the context of a successful transformation.

The HRBA-CDRF aims to protect individuals and groups through its seeking to prevent actions and omissions that interfere with fundamental freedoms, entitlements, human dignity, and values common to all cultures and civilisations (OHCHR 2006). Despite this, the instruments and activities analysed with the approach itself can, without additional structural changes, scarcely improve pre-

existing societal and environmental conditions of human rights oppression or violation, inequalities, or discrimination. The HRBA ensures that CDRF instruments and activities processes consider—and seek to prevent or address, rather than further exacerbate—existing inequalities and discriminatory practices. Therefore, an HRBA-CDRF aims to place particularly strong emphasis on the needs, risks, and capacities of these marginalised segments of the population that are already in vulnerable situations owing to factors such as geography, poverty, gender, age, indigenous or minority status and disability, national or social origin, birth, or other status (e.g. Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights 2009).

Figure 1: The HRBA to Climate and Disaster Risk Finance; Source: Author's own

The GW HRBA to Climate and Disaster Risk Financing

Objective:

Guiding climate risk financing by Human Rights principles and corresponding obligations established by international law. Seeks for climate risk financing instruments and activities to be developed, implemented and evaluated in a way to protect and promote the enjoyment of Human Rights to prevent harm to communities and ecosystems as well as to promote sustainable development.

Legal background:

Anchored in a system of rights and corresponding obligations established by international law (Human Rightsconventions and agreements, environmental and disaster risk reduction law and related normative frameworks).



4 Principles

At the core of the HRBA-CDRF are five principles derived from existing international law (human rights conventions and agreements, environmental and disaster risk reduction law, and related normative frameworks) that should guide all phases of the process (OHCRH 2015). They should serve as a reminder that climate policy has the target of protecting humans and their ecological co-world; it does not exist in a vacuum or in isolation from general obligations of international law, particularly in human rights law (Burkett 2009). The development, implementation, and evaluation of all CDRF instruments and activities should be guided by five principles to protect and promote the enjoyment of human rights and prevent harm to communities and ecosystems, as well as to promote sustainable development in the context of managing climate and disaster risks. They are derived from international and human rights and environmental law, and are as follows: (1) non-discrimination and equality, (2) participation and empowerment, (3) transparency, (4) accountability, and (5) do no harm. For each principle we subsequently present a definition, a detailed explanation for the context of CDRF, the legal background, and linkages to other principles. ¹²

Figure 2: Guiding principles for the HRBA to climate and disaster risk financing; Source: Author's own



implementing, and evaluating CDRF instruments and activities in a human rights-conforming manner. Amongst the various frameworks of HRBAs to climate issues and climate finance, we found the greatest compliance with the Guiding Principles in Applying a Rights-based approach to climate finance proposed by Johl & Lador (2012).

Just as with the preceding GW HRBA approach, this new enhanced approach establishes a set of guiding principles. To further build on the pre-existing set of principles, a review of various frameworks of HRBAs to climate issues and climate finance was conducted. The lessons learnt from this review are that there are various constellations of principles in place; some are more overarching and broader, some are more applicable to be operationalised for the context of developing, implementing, and evaluating CDRF instruments and activities in a human rights-conforming manner. Amongst the various

4.1 Non-Discrimination and Equality

Non-discrimination and equality

Climate risk financing instruments and activities seek to protect and promote the rights of all people, regardless of origin, age, sex, mental or physical health, ethnic or religious affiliation, sexual orientation, or any other such status. Pre-existing inequalities, exclusion, and discriminatory practices are analysed and taken into account during the development, implementation, and evaluation of such instruments and activities. Equal access to the development, implementation, and evaluation process of the instruments and activities is ensured for all rights holders.

In the climate debate, the principle of non-discrimination and equality is based on the notion that "the groups of the population that have contributed the least to climate change are often the most vulnerable to its impacts" (Johl & Lador 2012). Certain vulnerable groups such as poor parts of the population, women, children, older people, indigenous peoples and other minorities, persons with disabilities, migrant workers, and seasonal workers, even if equally exposed to risks regarding reduced production and income, are often more vulnerable and have less adaptive capacity to climate change-related risks (Thomas et al. 2018). Additionally, exclusion from land tenure, property rights, and education are inconsistent with non-discrimination and equality. The principle of nondiscrimination and equality obliges all duty bearers to protect and promote the rights of all people, regardless of their origin, age, sex, mental or physical health, ethnic or religious affiliation, sexual orientation, or any other such status (United Nations 1984). An HRBA-CDRF seeks to foster that preexisting inequalities and discriminatory practices are analysed and taken into account during the development, implementation, and evaluation of instruments and activities. It aims to address, rather than further aggravate, the situations of the most vulnerable and marginalised groups. It seeks to ensure inclusion and equal access to the development, implementation, and evaluation process of CDRF instruments and activities for all rights holders. The principle also entails identifying and prioritising in a participative way groups for which both the risk of harm and the barriers to realising rights are particularly high. These are usually "populations already marginalised or in vulnerable situations or that, due to discrimination and pre-existing inequalities, have limited access to decision-making or resources, such as women, children, persons with disabilities, indigenous peoples and persons living in rural areas" (OHCHR 2019b). 13 For example, women, even if equally exposed to risks regarding reduced production and income, are often more vulnerable and have less adaptive capacity to climate change-related risks (Akter et al. 2016). CDRF instruments should take into account that women's ability to recover from disasters is lower in the face of fewer economic options and limited access to resources, services, and decision-making processes.

Legal background and linkages to other principles

The notion of non-discrimination is included in all core human rights agreements. The UDHR sets out that "the equal and inalienable rights of all members of the human family is the foundation of

Discrimination can be direct, for example taking the form of apartheid laws or regulations barring women from judicial or presidential office. It can also be indirect, creating inequalities if, for example, school education is provided in a language that a linguistic minority does not understand. Discrimination becomes systemic when it is evident in individual behaviour patterns, social rules and institutional procedures, and policies and legislation. Such systemic discrimination often affects vulnerable groups, and can lead to social exclusion of entire sections of the population, such as women or indigenous communities. A particular challenge is posed by multidimensional discrimination, wherein people or groups are discriminated against based on a number of grounds; e.g. sex and ethnicity.

freedom, justice and peace in the world." It declares that "all human beings are born free and equal in dignity and rights" and states that, "All are equal before the law and are entitled without any discrimination to equal protection of the law. All are entitled to equal protection against any discrimination in violation of this Declaration and against any incitement to such discrimination." (ibid.). Finally, it notes that, "Everyone has the right to equal access to public service in his country." (ibid.). The rights of specific marginalised groups are further specified within the International Covenants (see Annex).

4.2 Participation and Empowerment

Participation and empowerment

Active, informed, meaningful, and inclusive participation of all rights holders and empowerment of the affected people is ensured during development, implementation, and evaluation of any CDRF instrument and activity.

The UNFCCC outlines that "public participation in addressing climate change and its effects and developing adequate responses" must be promoted and facilitated by Parties to the convention (UNFCCC 1992). This is especially important regarding thus far marginalised, vulnerable parts of the population. The UNFCCC further adopted the term Action for Climate Empowerment (ACE) in Article 12 of the Paris Agreement, which also refers to Article 6 of the convention. ACE focuses on six priority areas: education, training, public awareness, public participation, public access to information, and international cooperation on these issues. The implementation of all six areas has been identified as the pivotal factor for everyone to understand and participate in solving the complex challenges climate change presents (UNESCO & UNFCCC 2016). This applies not only as a strong incentive for strong climate and resilience activities, but equally to all actions and response measures, including CDRF, in addressing climate change and its effects. First, at-risk people need to be identified and formats of participation need to be made available at all phases of the development, implementation, and evaluation of CDRF instruments and activities. Even more so, these opportunities for participation need to be accessible, acceptable, adequate, and adaptable for all relevant groups. Providing a safe and enabling environment, transparency, and accessibility of information on the possibilities of participation builds another prerequisite for realising the principle of participation in this context. This encompasses i.a. providing customised information on CDRF instruments for different stakeholders and contexts (including in different languages), as well as using different communication platforms. In this regard, identification of people at risk, educational efforts, training, and capacity building are crucial for successfully applying an HRBA-CDRF. This is because the people climate and disaster risks most affect should possess sufficient knowledge on the risks, processes, and instruments, as well as the implications so they can personally participate actively, freely, and meaningfully. Beyond accumulating their influence and power to participate, public awareness should also be raised.

Participation and empowerment of the most vulnerable groups in the development, implementation, and evaluation of CDRF is recognised in international law generally and climate law specifically. For example, the Rio Declaration, Agenda 21, and the Aarhus Convention affirm that the best environmental decisions are made when civil society participates. Meaningful participation,

partnership, and collaboration can ensure a wider reach, innovative ideas, and quicker responses to development challenges such as disaster situations (DFID 2016).

Legal background and interlinkages with other principles

Article 25 of the ICCPR and General Comment 25 of the Human Rights Committee defines duty bearers' obligations in connection with "the right to take part in the conduct of public affairs", as do a large number of human rights instruments (OHCHR 2020b). More broadly, "Participation is the right held by all people to engage in society and in the decisions that impact their lives" (IDS 2020). The principle of participation and empowerment emphasises the importance of ensuring all rights holders' active, informed, meaningful, and inclusive participation. The spectrum of participation spans from 'informing' the public to 'consulting,' 'involving,' 'collaborating with,' and finally culminating in 'empowering,' the public (Oswald et al. n.d.). Additionally, the implementing guidelines of the Paris Agreement supporting the participation of "non-Party stakeholders and UNFCCC observer organizations" (UNFCCC 2019b), such as inputting to the 'global stocktake' that aims at an increase of states' levels of ambition on the one hand and the need for action and support on the other.

Empowerment and participation are deeply complementary. Without genuine empowerment, participation can quickly become a token exercise or even a means of maintaining power relations. Additionally, without meaningful participation, empowerment can remain an empty, unfulfilled promise (Cornwall & Brock 2005). Rights holders' capacities must be strengthened for people to actively engage in the process as well as to gain decision-making power and competence (Hutfils 2018). In terms of actors and processes, action must be taken to enhance vulnerable and marginalised people's 'power to' and 'power with,' and to build influence and participation in decision-making processes, such as in finding ways to ensure marginalised and vulnerable groups, and their issues, are represented and have influence in decision-making spaces (Pettit 2012).

Article 25 (1) of the ICCPR explicitly indicates the importance of non-discriminatory practices in the context of the right to participate in public affairs; therefore, the principle of participation and empowerment is strongly interlinked with the principles of non-discrimination and equality (TCC & OHCHR 2017). Issues such as access to education and labour conditions may affect the right to participate in public affairs, especially for marginalised groups. Duty bearers are therefore called upon to take special measures to ensure equal participation of women, ethnic and minority groups, youth, indigenous persons, persons with disabilities, and any other vulnerable and/or marginalised group or individual. As in other areas, women, minorities, indigenous peoples, and those living in extreme poverty may experience greater or additional barriers (e.g. lack of digital and physical infrastructure) to accessing information. These inhibit their ability to fully participate in public affairs. Truly effective and inclusive participation therefore very much depends on fulfilment of the HRBA principle of transparency.

4.3 Transparency



Individuals and communities are adequately informed about CDRF instruments and activities and their potential impacts. They are informed of meaningful and effective opportunities to participate in decisions on how these activities will be developed, implemented, and evaluated.

The principle of transparency sets out that individuals and communities are informed about climate and disaster risks, and CDRF instruments and activities, as well as development, implementation, and evaluation phases. Rights holders in this context are entitled to receive transparent information on potential impacts, whether positive and negative, of implementation of CDRF instruments and activities, and should also be informed about alternatives to CDRF. Moreover, rights holders should be informed of how to take up and use CDRF instruments and activities so that they benefit their needs in the most effective way possible.

Rights holders need to be informed of meaningful and effective opportunities to participate in decisions on how these instruments and activities will be developed, implemented, and evaluated. It is imperative to make information on CDRF instruments and activities as accessible and adequate as possible, so that the most vulnerable and marginalised groups in particular can participate in the development, implementation, and evaluation processes inclusively and meaningfully. It especially important to create transparency of decision-making processes at all stages.

The Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction notes that to strengthen disaster risk governance it is important to "enhance[e] relevant mechanisms and initiatives for disaster risk transparency, which may include financial incentives, public awareness-raising and training initiatives, reporting requirements and legal and administrative measures" (Sendai Framework 2015). In this context, it is also essential to conduct a transparent monitoring and evaluation process to assess the success or failure of existing (or missing) CDRF instruments and activities as a pre-condition. This is so duty bearers can be held accountable for their obligations. Appropriate institutional and processual arrangements are to be installed in a participatory manner for this purpose. To guarantee transparency in visibility, predictability, and understandability over the course of the entire cycle of developing, implementing, and evaluating CDRF instruments and activities, and to avoid corruption, detailed plans of action—including timeframes, targets, and benchmarks—should be set out.

Legal background and interlinkages with other principles

The principle of transparency is enshrined in Articles 19 of both the UDHR and ICCPR. The procedural right of access to information enables citizens to understand policies, help determine public priorities, and use information to ensure the exercise of their other human rights, including the right to education and rights supporting a safe environment (TCC & OHCHR 2017). The principle itself describes the "characteristic of governments, companies, organizations and individuals of being open in the clear disclosure of information, rules, plans, processes and actions" (Transparency International 2009). It emphasises the "duty to act visibly, predictably and understandably to promote participation and accountability" (ibid.). The Paris Agreement's implementation guidelines also refers to the principle of transparency, such as when member states are asked to provide information on "stakeholder involvement, including subnational, community-level and private sector plans, priorities, actions and programmes" for national adaptation measures

(UNFCCC 2019a+b). Transparency is closely linked to the principles of participation and empowerment, yet it also supports fulfilment of the principle of accountability. High degrees of availability, accessibility, and adequacy of information contribute to making governance, public administration, and general actions of duty bearers more transparent – the very foundation to hold them accountable. Improved transparency has the potential to lead to better outcomes and increased institutional effectiveness. It can also build trust and confidence in institutions and their activities. Transparency has its own intrinsic value additional to these instrumental benefits (McGee & Gaventa 2010).

4.4 Accountability



Climate risk financing instruments and activities incorporate accessible and adequate compliance mechanisms and procedures for rights holders should the instruments and activities cause social or environmental harm.

According to the principle of accountability, CDRF instruments and activities should provide effective access to judicial and administrative proceedings, including redress and remedy (UNESCO 2017). Vulnerable and marginalised groups often lack sufficient resources and means to utilise legal advice services. All types of complaint and redress mechanisms in the context of climate risks or CDRF mechanisms therefore must not only be available, but also accessible and set up adequately, which includes providing comprehensive and adequate information on procedures in a timely manner. Another requirement for fulfilling the principle of accountability in the context of applying an HRBA-CDRF is to install specific regulations and policies to make the elements of the CDRF instruments and activities recognisable and enforceable by law. In the case of climate risk insurance this includes, for example, setting up specific insurance regulations that facilitate claims on insurance contracts in the event of loss (CISL 2015). It is also crucial that the monitoring and evaluation process is closely linked to the aim of enabling effective and accessible accountability. Minimum standards for evaluating missing or existing CDRF instruments and activities, and their development and implementation, should therefore explicitly address accountability and grievance systems.

Legal background and interlinkages with other principles

ICCPR article 2 (3) establishes that the right to remedy is essential towards the enjoyment of all rights. The procedural rights of access to justice and redress are well-established under both human rights and international environmental law. As emphasised multiple times, rights and entitlement imply duties and obligations, whereas the fulfilment of duties demands accountability. The principle of accountability as the concept that duty bearers are held responsible for properly executing their powers is, therefore, a central element of an HRBA (Transparency International 2009). While duty bearers themselves determine which accountability mechanisms are most appropriate in the specific context, all mechanisms must be accessible, transparent, and effective (OHCHR 2012). Accountability essentially aims at the 'answerability' of decision makers and the 'enforceability' of these, although the majority of accountability initiatives focus on the former (McGee & Gaventa 2010). This both entails making "claims and demand a response" and being involved "in ensuring

that related action is taken" (Shahrokh & Lopez-Franco 2015). In this context, accountability again is closely interlinked with the HRBA principles of transparency and participation.

4.5 Do No Harm

5 Oo no harm Climate risk financing instruments and activities should include mechanisms to anticipate, avoid, or minimise unacceptable harm to communities or ecosystems. The development, implementation, and evaluation processes of such instruments and activities need to respect and build on existing structures and knowledge, such as traditional risk management and indigenous and local knowledge.

The do no harm principle is based on the concept that "international development interventions or activities should not cause unacceptable harm to communities or ecosystems" (Johl & Lador 2012). Preventing and minimising the severest social and economic impacts of climate hazards on individuals and communities and their respective human rights, especially those in vulnerable and marginalised situations, are the basic intents of developing and implementing CDRF instruments and activities. Nevertheless, CDRF instruments and activities themselves are a potential source of harm. Applying an HRBA-CDRF therefore means following the notion that efforts to address one problem (such as climate risk) should not result in new problems and harm (e.g. additional dependencies, trade-offs, and subsequent problems). According to an HRBA-CDRF, 'doing no harm' comprises anticipating, avoiding, or minimising harm, including the creation of additional dependencies, trade-offs, and subsequent problems in social, ecological, and economical dimensions, which might emerge from CDRF instruments and activities (UNESCO 2017). Human rights impact and risk assessments of these instruments and activities are a prerequisite for achieving this. Article 7 of the Paris Agreement comprises specific principles that adaptation actions should be aligned with. Those actions (such as in potential CDRF instruments and activities) should be, inter alia, gender-responsive, participatory, fully transparent, and based on traditional and indigenous knowledge. The Paris Agreement's implementation guidelines also refer to these principles in relation to the "adaptation communications," and involve respective aspects in their reporting structure (Eschke 2019), and thus provide an incentive to carefully design respective measures and avoid harm.

For climate risk insurance, research identified potential adverse effects on ecological and social systems. For the former, some climate risk insurance schemes bundle the insurance product with other services, such as agricultural advisory services. In this context, studies have shown an increased use of hybrid seeds and cash crops that replaced drought-resistant subsistence plants (Cole et al. 2017), or increased use of fertilizers by farmers (Karlan et al. 2014). For the latter, in the absence of CDRF instruments and activities, people and communities have traditionally developed coping mechanisms for dealing with weather-related risks, such as informal risk-sharing arrangements (Germanwatch 2020). These traditional coping strategies were often constantly developed over long periods of time following deep-seated cultural risk awareness, and show evidence of early climate risk management approaches (Ngwese et al. 2018). Informal risk-sharing arrangements are often inclusive, providing protection for the most vulnerable members of a community in the case of disaster. Research could show that, for example, farmers with climate risk insurance may change (i.e. reduce) their involvement in informal risk-sharing arrangements (Müller et al. 2017) to the detriment of the most vulnerable community members, who cannot afford

insurance products. CDRF instruments and activities should therefore be carefully integrated within the local context and existing coping strategies to further strengthen them and ensure that the most vulnerable community members are also covered. Otherwise, as Müller et al. (2017) concluded, the instruments could "create long-term maladaptive outcomes and undermine the ability of these systems to reduce vulnerability." A key point for compliance with the do no harm principle for CDRF instruments and activities is, thus, to respect and build on existing structures and knowledge such as traditional risk management and indigenous and local knowledge. Before putting, for example, an insurance scheme in place, this requires a thorough and participative assessment of existing structures. This means also investigating the community's views and choices, and giving them a voice. Insurance then might become a complementary part to broader climate risk management that integrates both traditional and formal approaches (Germanwatch 2020). Here, the do no harm principle must go hand in hand with the principles of participation and empowerment, because traditional, local, and indigenous knowledge can be appropriately considered only through participatory and empowering processes. CDRF instruments and activities should, moreover, be accompanied by comprehensive policies to safeguard the environment and communities, especially those most affected and in marginalised situations.

Legal background and interlinkages with other principles

The do no harm approach is widely recognised in international environmental law and serves as a principle for several international declarations. ¹⁴ The principle emphasises that states are duty-bound to prevent, reduce, and control the risk to communities and ecosystems of other states, as well as of areas beyond national jurisdiction (Brownlie 2008; Legal Response Initiative 2012; Rio Declaration 1992). This principle represents the general objective that efforts to address one problem (such as climate risk) should not result in new problems and harms. This very much interlinks with the notion of sustainability to take into account long-term positive and negative impacts for people and their social equity, and the planet and its environmental integrity, as well as prosperity in terms of economic and financial considerations (cost–benefit for duty bearer and rights holder). Consequently, the principle of do no harm sets out to not worsen the status quo, or create additional dependencies, trade-offs, and subsequent problems in social, ecological, and economical dimensions. The principle is complementary with the "precautionary principle" set out in the 1992 Rio Declaration, which notes that "where there are threats of serious or irreversible damage, lack of full scientific certainty shall not be used as a reason for postponing cost-effective measures to prevent environmental degradation" (Rio Declaration 1992).

23

¹⁴ Principle 21 of the 1972 Stockholm Declaration; 1992 Rio Declaration on Environment and Development (Principle 2), Convention on Biological Diversity (Article 3) and UNFCCC (in recital 8 of its preamble)

5 Operationalisation of the HRBA's Principles and Application Guidelines

With the ultimate objective of promoting and protecting human rights, preventing harm to communities and ecosystems, as well as promoting sustainable development, all actors involved in developing, implementing, and evaluating CDRF instruments and activities should apply the HRBA-CDRF. For all these instruments and activities, the HRBA principles of non-discrimination and equality, participation and empowerment, transparency, accountability, and do no harm should guide their development, implementation, and evaluation. In the following, the principles are operationalised for each phase using 'necessary measures' to implement each principle in the process of developing, implementing, and evaluating CDRF instruments and activities. These necessary measures serve two purposes: (1) guide all actors in the process of developing, implementing, and designing CDRF instruments and activities that protect and promote the enjoyment of human rights, and (2) assess whether the HRBA principles were complied with, or to what extent they were fulfilled. Identification of relevant necessary measures was guided by five normative contents which were defined in the general comments of the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights: adequacy, accessibility, availability, adaptability, and acceptability (OHCHR 2012). Adequacy entails, for example, that benefits must have adequate amount and duration so duty bearers can realise their rights, it also entails that information must be provided so that it is usable for all rights holders (ECOSOC 2008). Accessibility incorporates that all steps of an HRBA-CDRF must follow the dimensions of non-discrimination, physical, economic, and informational accessibility in terms of, for example, coverage, eligibility, affordability, participation in, and information about CDRF (ECOSOC 2008). Availability means that facilities, goods, and services, as well as programs, must be available in sufficient quantity (and quality) to ensure that financial resources are provided for the relevant climate risks and contingencies (ECOSOC 2000). Adaptability refers to the retention of a certain degree of flexibility in CDRF instruments and activities so they can adapt to newly available information regarding climate risks, as well as the needs of changing societies and right holders within their diverse social and cultural settings (ECOSOC 1999). Acceptability incorporates the dimensions of relevance, cultural appropriateness, and good quality (ECOSOC 1999). CDRF instruments and activities should, for example, be respectful of the culture of individuals, minorities, people, and communities, be sensitive to gender and life cycle requirements, and be designed to respect confidentiality and improve the status of those concerned (ECOSOC 2000). Through these normative contents, the HRBA-CDRF principles were and can further be operationalised.

The identified necessary measures and respective normative contents can be understood as proxy indicators. Notable here is that necessary measures very much depend on the specific context of application, and the type of instrument or activity. A one-size-fits-all approach is therefore inadequate. The following table describes the necessary measures for each of the five principles' operationalisation. Measures' numbering does not imply priority or importance; the implementation of the different measures is equally relevant.

Table 2: Necessary measures for operationalising the HRBA principles

Application guidelines for the HRBA principles Principle 1: Non-discrimination and equality All rights holders. Measure 1: Identify and take Pre-existing inequalities, discrimination, marginalisation, and into account in vulnerabilities; or established practices to overcome these kinds of every further step obstacles. Specific needs of all rights holders. of the process: Conditions that ensure all rights holders equal access by considering Measure 2: Establish an criteria of accessibility: inclusion, coverage, eligibility, economic and enabling physical accessibility environment for Policies that ensure that projects are developed and implemented so and rights holders receive culturally compatible social and economic implementation benefits and suffer no adverse effects during the development and of: implementation process of CDRF instruments and activities. Adaptability of the CDRF instruments and related processes if the monitoring and evaluation process reveals any negative impacts in exacerbated discrimination and inequality. Principle 2: Participation and empowerment Measure 3: Provide a safe and enabling environment for meaningful participation, Create especially for vulnerable and marginalised groups and/or individuals. fundamental Identify capacity gaps of marginalised and vulnerable groups, and undertake specific action for education, training, and public conditions for participation of awareness on climate risks and financial instruments. all rights holders Ensure access to relevant information to enable effective and inclusive participation. Measure 4: Establish decision-making processes, in which marginalised and Establish active, vulnerable groups, and their issues, are represented and have informed, influence. meaningful, and Take specific measures to actively involve marginalised groups and inclusive formats people affected by climate-induced risks and harm. of participation Make participation formats available, accessible, acceptable, for all rights adequate, and adaptable along all phases of developing, holders implementing, and evaluating CDRF instruments and activities for all relevant actors. **Principle 3: Transparency** Measure 5: Ensure and regularly review the availability, accessibility, and Transparency adequacy of information on: • Existence of CDRF options.

through information	 Costs-benefits and risks of CDRF instruments for specific situations and needs. How to take up and use CDRF products so they most effectively benefit needs.
Measure 6: Transparency of processes, structures, and institutions	 Establish a transparent system of governance over financial mechanisms through reporting and information disclosure requirements. Establish a time-bound plan of action, including benchmarks and ultimate targets in development, implementation, and evaluation of CDRF instruments and activities to guarantee transparency in visibility, predictability, and understandability. Set up monitoring and evaluation systems in a participatory manner with minimum standards and indicators that contain information, that is as disaggregated as possible, on CDRF instruments' and activities' impacts on various groups within populations. Set up appropriate institutional and processual arrangements to enable people who are affected by policies to participate in monitoring and assessing their success or failure.
Principle 4: Accou	ntability
Measure 7: Provide adequate pre-conditions for accountability	 Conduct mapping of duty bearers. Formulate TORs with duty bearers to facilitate accountability.
Measure 8: Accountability in regard to processes	 Jointly design and mutually agree on social and environmental impact assessments, and ensure enforcement of environmental and social safeguard policies, including a means to determine whether CDRF financing instruments and activities, in their implementation, are complying with their own policies. Establish complaints mechanisms to address potential violations of policies and procedures. Ensure that the independence, transparency, accessibility, adequacy, and effectiveness of complaints further reinforce the mechanisms' support of affected people in enforcing their entitlements. This includes providing information on procedures in a timely manner and via different means of access (offline, online, telephone) so that mechanisms are accessible. Establish monitoring and evaluation with minimum standards that explicitly address accountability and grievance systems, including adequate follow-up processes.
Measure 9: Accountability in regard to legal frameworks	- Make CDRF instruments' and activities' elements recognizable and enforceable by law.

Measure 10: Anticipate harm	 Building on Measures 1 and 9: Apply preventive and precautionary approaches in development and implementation, including prior assessment and systematic observation of CDRF instruments' and activities' impacts on the enjoyment of human rights. Continuously assess CDRF instruments' and activities' impacts, and impacts of related processes and policies, on rights holders. Assess the existence of traditional, indigenous, and local framework conditions and take them into account in the process of developing CDRF instruments and activities.
Measure 11: Minimise and avoid harm	 Set up social and environmental impact assessments (step 9) as well as additional policies to protect and promote human rights, especially of the most vulnerable and groups in marginalised situations. Ensure integration of safeguards with robust accountability mechanisms and appropriate contingency plans to address harm should it occur. Continuously adapt instruments, policies, and processes to changing needs and circumstances while ensuring a minimum level of stability. Respect traditional, indigenous, and local knowledge and useful practices.

6 The Way Forward

Promoting and protecting human rights in the context of managing climate and disaster risks requires a combined effort. Based on the system of rights and corresponding obligations established by international law, the HRBA-CDRF should be considered and implemented by a variety of actors (rights holders and duty bearers) who are equally involved. This should be done in respectful cooperation for the development, implementation, and evaluation of instruments and activities related to CDRF, which should apply the HRBA. International decision makers and initiatives such as the IGP also need to lead the way by providing guidance and support through international policy frameworks, backed by financial and technical means. The 11 proposed measures can be used to (1) guide all actors and initiatives in the process of developing, implementing, and designing CDRF instruments and activities that protect and promote the enjoyment of human rights, and (2) assess whether the HRBA principles were complied with, or to what extent they were fulfilled, such as for the IGP Monitoring and Evaluation Framework. Application of the HRBA-CDRF must be specified in the form of concrete recommendations and measures for each individual CDRF instrument, and equally for international initiatives in the context of CDRF. Schäfer, Jorks, and Künzel (2020), for example, developed a set of recommendations for the IGP. Künzel (2020) also applied the approach in assessing the contingency plan of African Risk Capacity. These two cases, only showcase two possibilities for the HRBA-CDRF's application. The approach establishes a framework that is applicable to a wider range of different types of CDRF instruments, initiatives, and also government programmes in many different ways. It can be used to review and optimize existing instrument or programmes that already contain elements of human rights conformity, it can serve to set up new initiatives based on HRBA principles, and/or it can support the integration of HRBA principles in processes of an existing scheme which did not pay respect to human rights before. Furthermore, the HRBA-CDRF can be used in a broad variety of regional contexts. This underlines that the HRBA-CDRF does not strive for a one-size fits all approach, but that there is a large variety of possibilities to achieve the aim of guiding climate risk financing by human rights principles and corresponding obligations established under international law, and seeking for climate risk financing instruments and activities to be developed, implemented, and evaluated so as to protect and promote the enjoyment of human rights, prevent harm to communities and ecosystems, and also promote sustainable development.

7 Bibliography

2030 Agenda 2015: United Nations: Transforming Our World: The Agenda 2030 For Sustainable Development: A/RES/70/1. Available at: https://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/migration/generalassembly/docs/globalcompact/A RES 70 1 E.pdf 14.07.2020).

Akter, Krupnik, Rossi & Khanam 2016: Akter S., Krupnik T. J., Rossi F., Khanam, F.: The influence of gender and product design on farmers' preferences for weather-indexed crop insurance. Global Environmental Change, 38, 217-229.

Arhus Convention 1998: United Nations Economic Commission for Europe: Convention on Access to Information, Public Participation in Decision-Making and Access to Justice in Environmental Matters. Available at: http://www.unece.org/fileadmin/DAM/env/pp/documents/cep43e.pdf (14.07.2020).

Bread for the World 2019: Climate Risk Financing: A Brief Analysis of Financial Coping Instruments and Approaches to Close the Protection Gap. Available at: https://www.brot-fuer-die-welt.de/fileadmin/mediapool/2 Downloads/Fachinformationen/Analyse/Analysis 87 Climate Risk Financing.pdf (13.07.2020).

Broberg & Sano 2018: Strengths and weaknesses in a human rights-based approach to international development – an analysis of a rights-based approach to development assistance based on practical experiences, The International Journal of Human Rights, 22:5, 664-680, DOI: 10.1080/13642987.2017.1408591. Available at: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/13642987.2017.1408591?needAccess=true (14.07.2020).

Brownlie 2008: Brownli I.: in: Principles of Public International Law, 7th ed., 2008, pp.275-285. Available at: https://files.pca-cpa.org/pcadocs/bi-c/2.%20Canada/4.%20Legal%20Authorities/RA-58%20-

<u>%20Principles%20of%20Public%20International%20Law,%20Brownlie,%207th%20edition,%20Sources%20of%20Law.pdf</u> (14.07.2020).

Burkett 2009: Burkett M.: Climate reparations. Melbourne Journal of International Law, 10, 509-542.

CBD 1992: United Nations: The Convention on Biological Diversity. Available at: https://www.cbd.int/doc/legal/cbd-en.pdf (14.07.2020).

CISL 2015: Insurance Regulation for Sustainable Development: Protecting Human Rights against Climate Risk and Natural Hazards. Available at www.cisl.cam.ac.uk/resources/sustainable-finance-publications/insurance-regulation-for-sustainable-development (14.07.2020).

Cornwall & Brock 2005: Cornwell A., Brock K.: Beyond Buzzwords: "Poverty Reduction", "Participation" and "Empowerment" in Development Policy. Available at: http://www.unrisd.org/80256B3C005BCCF9/(httpAuxPages)/F25D3D6D27E2A1ACC12570CB002FFA9A/\$file/cornwall.pdf (14.07.2020).

DFID 2016: Civil Society Partnership Review. Available at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/565368/Civil-SocietyPartnership-Review-3Nov2016.pdf (14.07.2020).

Eckstein, Künzel, Schäfer, Winges 2019: Germanwatch: Eckstein D., Künzel V., Schäfer L., Winges M.: Global Climate Risk Index 2020. Available at: https://germanwatch.org/sites/germanwatch.org/files/20-2-01e%20Global%20Climate%20Risk%20Index%202020 10.pdf (13.07.2020).

ECOSOC 2008: United Nations Economic and Social Council: Implementation of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights: General Comment No. 19: The right to social security (art. 9 of the Covenant). Available at:

http://docstore.ohchr.org/SelfServices/FilesHandler.ashx?enc=4slQ6QSmlBEDzFEovLCuW1a0Szab0oXTdImnsJZZVQdrCvvLm0yy7YCiVA9YY61Z8YHJWla0qOfZ9fbBAjHL%2flL15gllsqSBbczFKYlRCH3h0ggclCkMPkxlTz7NI9wE (14.08.2020).

ECOSOC 2000: United Nations Economic and Social Council: Implementation of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights: General Comment No. 14: The right to the highest attainable standard of health (article 12 of the Covenant). Available at: http://docstore.ohchr.org/SelfServices/FilesHandler.ashx?enc=4slQ6QSmlBEDzFEovLCuW1AVC1N kPsgUedPlF1vfPMJ2c7ey6PAz2qaojTzDJmC0y%2B9t%2BsAtGDNzdEqA6SuP2r0w%2F6sVBGTpvTS CbiOr4XVFTqhQY65auTFbQRPWNDxL (14.08.2020).

ECOSOC 1999: United Nations Economic and Social Council: Implementation of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights: General Comment No. 13: The right to education (article 13 of the Covenant). Available at:

http://docstore.ohchr.org/SelfServices/FilesHandler.ashx?enc=4slQ6QSmlBEDzFEovLCuW%2bKyH %2bnXprasyMzd2e8mx4cYlD1VMUKXaG3Jw9bomilLKS84HB8c9nIHQ9mUemvt0Fbz%2f0SS7kENyD v5%2fbYPWAxMw47K5jTga59puHtt3NZr (14.08.2020).

Eschke 2019: Eschke N.: Deutsches Institut für Menschenrechte: Menschenrechtsbasierte Klimapolitik Empfehlungen für die Umsetzung des Pariser Klimaabkommens. Available at : https://www.institut-fuer-menschenrechte.de/fileadmin/user-upload/Publikationen/POSITION/Position-Menschenrechtsbasierte-Klimapolitik.pdf (17.08.2020).

Expert Group on Climate Obligations of Enterprises 2018: Principles on Climate Obligations of Enterprises: Legal Perspectives for Global Challenges. Available at: https://climateprinciplesforenterprises.files.wordpress.com/2017/12/enterprisesprincipleswebpdf. pdf (13.07.2020).

Expert Group on Global Climate Obligations 2015: Oslo Principles on Global Climate Change Obligations. Available at: http://globaljustice.yale.edu/sites/default/files/files/OsloPrinciples.pdf (14.07.2020).

Germanwatch 2020: Climate Risk Insurance and Informal-Risk Sharing. A Critical Literature Appraisal. MCII Discussion Paper Series. Available at: https://climate-insurance.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/Climate-risk insurance and ISRA Discussion Paper No 4 FINAL-2.pdf (14.07.2020).

Ghesquiere & Mahul 2010: Ghesquiere F, Mahul O.: Financial Protection of the State against Natural Disasters: World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 5429. Available at: http://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/227011468175734792/pdf/WPS5429.pdf (14.07.2020).

Hutfils 2018: Germanwatch: Hutfils L.: A Human Rights-based Approach to Climate Risk Insurance:

Making Insurance-related Instruments for Climate Risk Management Beneficial to the Poor and Vulnerable. Available at: https://germanwatch.org/sites/germanwatch.org/files/Human%20Rights-based%20Approach%20to%20Climate%20Risk%20Insurance_0.pdf (14.07.2020).

ICESCR 1966: International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights. Available at: https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/ProfessionalInterest/cescr.pdf (14.07.2020).

IDS 2020: International Development Institute: Participation, Inclusion and Social Change. Available at: https://www.ids.ac.uk/clusters-and-teams/participation/ (14.07.2020).

InsuResilience 2018: The InsuResilience Global Partnership. Available at: https://www.insuresilience.org/wp-

content/uploads/2018/11/Flyer InsuResilienceGlobalPartnership 2018.pdf (14.07.2020).

InsuResilience 2019: InsuResilience Global Partnership: Pro-Poor Principles of the InsuResilience Global Partnership. Available at: https://www.insuresilience-solutions-fund.org/content/6-downloads/annex-5-pro-poor-principles.pdf (13.07.2020).

IPCC 2012: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change: Summary for Policymakers. In: Managing the Risks of Extreme Events and Disasters to Advance Climate Change Adaptation[Field, C.B., V. Barros, T.F. Stocker, D. Qin, D.J. Dokken, K.L. Ebi, M.D. Mastrandrea, K.J. Mach, G.-K. Plattner, S.K. Allen, M. Tignor, and P.M. Midgley (eds.)]. A Special Report of Working GroupsI and II of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, and New York, NY, USA, pp. 1-19.

IPCC 2019: Hurlbert M., Krishnaswamy J. et al.: Risk Management and Decision making in Relation to Sustainable Development. In: Climate Change and Land: an IPCC special report on climate change, desertification, land degradation, sustainable land management, food security, and greenhouse gas fluxes in terrestrial ecosystems. In press. Available at: https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/sites/4/2019/11/10 Chapter-7.pdf (14.07.2020).

Johl & Lador 2012: Johl A., Lador Y.: CIEL: A Human Rights-based Approach to Climate Finance. International Policy Analysis | FES Geneva. Available at: http://www.ciel.org/Publications/ClimateFinance_Feb2012.pdf (14.07.2020).

Karlan, Osei, Osei-Akoto, Udry 2014: Agricultural decisions after relaxing credit and risk constraints. The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 129, 597-652.

Legal Response Initiative 2012: 'No-harm rule' and climate change. Available at: https://legalresponse.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/BP42E-Briefing-Paper-No-Harm-Rule-and-Climate-Change-24-July-2012.pdf (14.07.2020).

McGee & Gaventa 2010: McGee R., Gaventa J.: Review of impact and effectiveness of transparency and accountability initiatives: synthesis report. Brighton: IDS. Available at: http://www.ids.ac.uk/files/dmfile/IETASynthesisReportMcGeeGaventaFinal28Oct2010.pdf (14.07.2020).

Müller, Johnson & Kreuzer 2017: Müller B., Johnson L., Kreuer D.: Maladaptive outcomes of climate insurance in agriculture. Global Environmental Change, 46, 23-33.

Ngwese et al. 2018: Ngwese M.N., Saito O., Sato A., Boafo A.Y., & Jasaw G.: Traditional and Local Knowledge Practices for Disaster Risk Reduction in Northern Ghana. Sustainability, 10(3), 825. Available at: https://collections.unu.edu/eserv/UNU:6456/n2018-03 MacNight sustainability-10-00825.pdf (14.07.2020).

OHCHR 2006: United Nations: Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights: Frequently asked questions on a Human Rights-based approach to development cooperation. Available at: http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/FAQen.pdf (13.07.2020).

OHCHR 2009a: United Nations Human Rights Council, A/HRC/10/61, Report of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on the relationship between climate change and Human Rights. Available at: https://www.refworld.org/docid/498811532.html (13.07. 2020).

OHCHR 2009b: United Nations Human Rights Council: Resolution 10/4, Human Rights and Climate Change. Available at: https://ap.ohchr.org/documents/E/HRC/resolutions/A HRC RES 10 4.pdf (13.07.2020).

OHCHR 2011a: United Nations General Assembly. Resolution adopted by the Human Rights Council* 16/11. Human rights and the environment. A/HRC/RES/16/11. Available at: https://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrcouncil/docs/16session/A.HRC.RES.16.11 en.pdf (13.07.2020).

OHCHR 2011b: United Nations Human Rights: Office of the High Commissioner: Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights, Part II: The Corporate Responsibility to Respect Human Rights. Available at: https://www.ohchr.org/documents/publications/guidingprinciplesbusinesshr-en.pdf (13.07.2020).

OHCHR 2011c: United Nations Human Rights Council: Res. 17/4, Human Rights and Transnational Corporations and Other Business Enterprises. Available at: https://www.business-humanrights.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/un-human-rights-council-resolution-re-human-rights-transnational-corps-eng-6-jul-2011.pdf (13.07.2020).

OHCHR 2012: HUMAN RIGHTS INDICATORS. A Guide to Measurement and Implementation. New York and Geneva. Available at: https://www.ohchr.org/documents/publications/human rights indicators en.pdf (14.07.2020).

OHCHR 2013: Knox J.H.: United Nations: General Assembly: Human Rights Council: Report of the Independent Expert on the issue of Human Rights obligations relating to the enjoyment of a safe, clean, healthy and sustainable environment, John H. Knox. Available at: https://undocs.org/en/A/HRC/25/53 (14.07.2020).

OHCHR 2015: Submission of the Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights to the 21st Conference of the Parties to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change 2015: Key Messages on Human Rights and Climate Change. Available at: https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/ClimateChange/COP21.pdf (13.07.2020).

OHCHR 2016: United Nations Human Rights Council: Report of the Special Rapporteur on the issue of Human Rights obligations relating to the enjoyment of a safe, clean, healthy and sustainable environment. Available at: https://undocs.org/A/HRC/31/52 (13.07.2020).

OHCHR 2018a: Report of the Special Rapporteur on the issue of Human Rights obligations relating to the enjoyment of a safe, clean, healthy and sustainable environment. Available at: https://undocs.org/en/A/HRC/37/59 (13.07.2020).

OHCHR 2018b: United Nations: Human Rights Council: Guiding Principles for Human Rights impact assessments for economic reform policies: A/HRC/40/57. Available at: https://undocs.org/A/HRC/40/57 (13.07.2020).

OHCHR 2019a: Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women; Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights; Committee on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of their Families; Committee on the Rights of the Child; Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities: Joint Statement on "Human Rights and Climate Change". Available at: https://www.ohchr.org/en/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=24998&LangID=E (13.07.2020).

OHCHR 2019b: United Nations: General Assembly: Human rights obligations relating to the enjoyment of a safe, clean, healthy and sustainable environment: A/74/161. Available at: https://undocs.org/A/74/161 (14.07.2020).

OHCHR 2020a: United Nations: Website of the Office of the High Commissioner on Human Rights: International Human Rights Law. Available at: https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/internationallaw.aspx (14.07.2020).

OHCHR 2020b: United Nations: Website of the Office of the High Commissioner on Human Rights: Equal Participation in public and political affairs. Available at: https://www.ohchr.org/EN/Issues/Pages/EqualParticipation.aspx (14.07.2020).

Oswald et al. n.d.: Oswald K., Apgar J., Thorpe J., & Gaventa J.: Participation in economic decision-making: A primer. Brighton: IDS. Available at: https://opendocs.ids.ac.uk/opendocs/bitstream/handle/20.500.12413/13815/Participation Primer.pdf?sequence=1 (14.07.2020).

Paris Agreement 2015: United Nations: Paris Agreement to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. Available at: https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/english-paris-agreement.pdf (13.07.2020).

Pettit 2012: Pettit J.: Institute for Development Studies: Empowerment and Participation: bridging the gap between understanding and practice. Available at: https://www.un.org/esa/socdev/egms/docs/2012/JethroPettit.pdf (14.07.2020).

Rio Declaration 1992: United Nations: General Assembly: Report of the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development: Rio Declaration on Environment and Development: A/CONF.151/26 (Vol. I). Available at: https://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/migration/generalassembly/docs/globalcompact/A CONF.151 26 Vol.I Declaration.pdf (14.07.2020).

Schäfer et al. 2016: MCII: Schäfer L., Waters E., Kreft S. and Zissener M.: Making Climate Risk Insurance Work for the Most Vulnerable: Seven Guiding Principles. Munich Climate Insurance Initiative/UNU_EHS Publication Series. Policy Report.

Sen 1999: Sen A.: Development as Freedom. New York: Alfred Knopf. Available at: https://scholar.harvard.edu/sen/publications/development-freedom (12.08.2020).

Sendai 2015: United Nations: Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015 – 2030. Available at: https://www.preventionweb.net/files/43291 sendaiframeworkfordrren.pdf (14.07.2020).

Shahrokh & Lopez-Franco 2015: Shahrokh T., Lopez-Franco E.: Policy briefing: achieving meaningful accountability for people living in poverty and marginalisation. Available at: https://opendocs.ids.ac.uk/opendocs/bitstream/handle/123456789/6002/Participate Accountability PB.pdf?sequence=1 (14.07.2020)

TCC & OHCHR 2017: The Carter Institute: The Right to Participation in Public Affairs Submission on the Draft Guidelines on the effective implementation of the right to participate in public affairs as established in Human Rights Council Resolution 33/22. Available at: https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/EqualParticipation/DraftGuidelines/CarterCenter.pdf (14.07.2020).

Toussaint & Blanco 2019: Toussaint P., Martinez Blanco A.: A Human Rights-based approach to loss and damage under the climate change regime. - Climate policy. Available at: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/14693062.2019.1630354 (14.07.2020).

Transparency International 2009: The anti-corruption plain language guide. Berlin: Transparency International.

Available at: http://issuu.com/transparencyinternational/docs/ti-plain-language-guide?mode=window&back-groundColor=%23222222 (14.07.2020).

UDHR 1948: United Nations: General Assembly: United Nations Universal Declaration of Human Rights. Available at: https://www.ohchr.org/EN/UDHR/Documents/UDHR Translations/eng.pdf (14.07.2020).

UN DESA 2017: Islam, N., Winkel, J.: Climate Change and Social Inequality. Available at: https://www.un.org/esa/desa/papers/2017/wp152 2017.pdf (13.07.2020).UNEP 2015: United Nations Environment Programme: Climate Change and Human Rights. Available at: <a href="https://web.law.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/microsites/climate-change

UNESCO & UNFCCC 2016: Action for Empowerment: Guidelines for accelerating solutions through education, training and public awareness. Available at: https://www.bne-portal.de/sites/default/files/downloads/UNESCO%26UNFCCC 2016 Action%20for%20Climate%2 DEmpowerment.pdf (14.07.2020).

UNESCO 2017: Declaration of Ethical Principles in relation to Climate Change. Available at: http://portal.unesco.org/en/ev.php-URL_ID=49457&URL_DO=DO_TOPIC&URL_SECTION=201.html (14.07.2020).

UNFCCC 1992: United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. Available at: https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/convkp/conveng.pdf (14.07.2020).

UNFCCC 2011: The Cancun Agreements: Outcome of the work of the Ad Hoc Working Group on Long-term Cooperative Action under the Convention. Available at: https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/2010/cop16/eng/07a01.pdf. (13.07.2020).

UNFCCC 2019a: Report of the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Paris Agreement on the third part of its first session, held in Katowice from 2 to 15 December 2018 (FCCC/PA/CMA/2018/3/Add.1).

Available at: https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/cma2018_3_add1_advance.pdf (17.08.2020).

UNFCCC 2019b: Report of the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Paris Agreement on the third part of its first session, held in Katowice from 2 to 15 December 2018. Available at: https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/cma2018_3_add2_new_advance.pdf (17.08.2020).

UNIRSDSP 2020: United Nations Research Institute for Social Development: Rights Holders. Available at: https://socialprotection-humanrights.org/key-issues/universality-of-protection-and-effective-access/rights-holders/ (14.08.2020).

World Bank & GFDRR 2012: World Bank Group, Global Facility for Disaster Reduction and Recovery: Financial Protection against Natural Disasters: From Products to Comprehensive Strategies: An Operational Framework for Disaster Risk Financing and Insurance. Available at: https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/21725/949880WP0Box380st0Natural0Disasters.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y">https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/21725/949880WP0Box380st0Natural0Disasters.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y">https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/21725/949880WP0Box380st0Natural0Disasters.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y">https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/21725/949880WP0Box380st0Natural0Disasters.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y">https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/21725/949880WP0Box380st0Natural0Disasters.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y">https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/21725/949880WP0Box380st0Natural0Disasters.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y">https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/21725/949880WP0Box380st0Natural0Disasters.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y">https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/21725/949880WP0Box380st0Natural0Disasters.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y">https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/21725/949880WP0Box380st0Natural0Disasters.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y">https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/21725/949880WP0Box380st0Natural0Disasters.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y">https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/21725/949880WP0Box380st0Natural0Disasters.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y">https://openknowledge.worldbank.pdf

... did you find this publication interesting and helpful?

You can support the work of Germanwatch with a donation to:

Bank fuer Sozialwirtschaft AG

BIC/Swift: BFSWDE33BER

IBAN: DE33 1002 0500 0003 212300

Thank you for your support!

Germanwatch

Following the motto of *Observing. Analysing. Acting.* Germanwatch has been actively promoting global equity and livelihood preservation since 1991. We focus on the politics and economics of the Global North and their world-wide consequences. The situation of marginalised people in the Global South is the starting point for our work. Together with our members and supporters, and with other actors in civil society, we strive to serve as a strong lobbying force for sustainable development. We aim at our goals by advocating for prevention of dangerous climate change and its negative impacts, for guaranteeing food security, and for corporate compliance with human rights standards.

Germanwatch is funded by membership fees, donations, programme funding from Stiftung Zukunftsfaehigkeit (Foundation for Sustainability), and grants from public and private donors.

You can also help us to achieve our goals by becoming a member or by making a donation via the following account:

Bank für Sozialwirtschaft AG, BIC/Swift: BFSWDE33BER

IBAN: DE33 1002 0500 0003 2123 00

For further information, please contact one of our offices

Germanwatch - Bonn Office

Kaiserstr. 201

D-53113 Bonn, Germany Phone: +49 (0)228 / 60492-0 Fax: +49 (0)228 / 60492-19

Germanwatch - Berlin Office

Stresemannstr. 72 D-10963 Berlin, Germany Phone: +49 (0)30 / 2888 356-0 Fax: +49 (0)30 / 2888 356 -1

E-mail: info@germanwatch.org

or visit our website:

www.germanwatch.org



